STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

NOV 25 2019

Appeal from Charleston County

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY M. ENRIQUEZ,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002237

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the circuit court erred in finding that Appellant did not qualify for resentencing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), because he was eligible for parole after service of twenty years, where the mandatory nature of Appellant's life with parole sentence treated all adults and juveniles the same, and where the parole process in South Carolina does not provide a meaningful opportunity for release such that it is not an adequate substitute for individualized resentencing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the June 1994 term, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Anthony Enriquez (hereinafter "Anthony") for one count of murder and one count of armed robbery, related to an incident that occurred on January 21, 1994, when Anthony was seventeen years old.

On December 1, 1994, Anthony appeared before the Honorable Casey Manning to enter pleas to both indicted offenses. Anthony was represented by William L. Runyon, Jr., and the state was represented by R. Spencer Roddey. R. 1. Anthony pled guilty to the murder offense, and pled guilty pursuant to Alford¹ to the armed robbery offense. R. 7, l. 3 – 19, l. 4. He was sentenced to the mandatory term of life imprisonment for murder and to a concurrent term of twenty-five years for armed robbery. R. 31, ll. 10-23. Pursuant to the statutory scheme in place at the time of the offense, Anthony would become eligible for parole after service of twenty years of his sentence.² R. 70, ll. 1-16; S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20 (1992).

According to the Charleston County Public Index, Anthony filed numerous post-conviction relief and other collateral actions related to his conviction in state court. See Case No. 1995-CP-10-04475 (first PCR action); Case No. 1998-CP-10-00944 (civil action against Runyon); Case No. 2000-CP-10-01347 (second PCR action); Case No. 2003-CP-10-03186 (state

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

² S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A) (1992) provided, in pertinent part: "A person who is convicted of or pleads guilty to murder must be punished by death or by imprisonment for life and is not eligible for parole until the service of twenty years, provided, however, that when the State seeks the death penalty and an aggravating circumstance is specifically found beyond a reasonable doubt pursuant to subsections (B) and (C), and a recommendation of death is not made, the court must impose a sentence of life imprisonment without eligibility for parole until the service of thirty years. . . . No person sentenced under the provisions of this subsection may receive any work-release credits, good-time credits, or any other credit that would reduce the mandatory imprisonment required by this subsection."

habeas corpus); Case No. 2004-CP-10-04859 (third PCR action); Case No. 2008-CP-10-03580 (fourth PCR action); and Case No. 2009-CP-10-05985 (fifth PCR action). Anthony also filed for federal habeas relief, but was not granted relief through any of his collateral action. Case No. 3:98-cv-01840-MBS (filed June 23, 1998).

Following our Supreme Court's decision in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), Anthony filed a *pro se* motion for resentencing on December 23, 2014. R. 33. On March 30, 2016, Anthony filed a Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Resentencing through counsel, Bentley Price. R. 38. By Order filed April 6, 2016, the Supreme Court vested the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen with exclusive jurisdiction over Anthony's Motion for Resentencing. R. 37.

On April 21, 2016, the State, represented by assistant solicitor Charles M. Condon, Jr., filed its response to the motion for resentencing, arguing that Anthony was not eligible for resentencing because he was eligible for parole. R. 61. The defense filed a reply to the state's response on June 30, 2016. R. 64. On July 19, 2016, the State filed a supplemental response. R. 66.

On July 20, 2016, the parties appeared for a hearing before Judge Mullen, at which she considered whether Anthony was entitled to a resentencing hearing pursuant to Aiken. Judge Mullen heard argument from counsel and took the matter under advisement. R. 68 – 77. On October 20, 2016, Judge Mullen filed an Order denying Anthony's motion for resentencing. R. 79.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilty Plea

At the outset of the guilty plea hearing, Judge Manning asked Anthony whether he had any concerns about whether Runyon's representation of both Anthony and his brother/co-defendant, Jessie Enriquez, presented a conflict. Anthony responded "no, sir." R. 3, l. 5 – 6, l. 23. See Staggs v. State, 372 S.C. 549, 551, 643 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2007) ("An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant's."). Notable, in the defense memorandum in support of resentencing, Anthony averred that it was his brother, Jessie, who loaded the gun on the night of the incident, unbeknownst to Anthony. R. 43. There was strong evidence that Anthony did not know that the gun was loaded. Witnesses Derrick Brown and Wendy Joyner both provided written statements that after the shooting, Anthony asked "who loaded the gun?" R. 47; see also R. 51.

Despite this, Runyon said that Anthony would be pleading guilty to the murder offense and pleading guilty pursuant to Alford to the armed robbery offense. R. 7, ll. 3-23. When Judge Manning inquired as to whether that was Anthony's understanding, Anthony responded that he did not know about the second indictment for armed robbery. R. 7, l. 24 – 8, l. 8. A recess was taken, after which Anthony tendered the guilty and Alford pleas. The prosecutor and Runyon agreed that the terms of the plea agreement were that Anthony would plead guilty to murder without an aggravating circumstance, and avoid the thirty-year minimum prior to parole eligibility, in exchange for the state's agreement not to seek the death penalty. R. 8, l. 9 – 19, l. 4.

The prosecutor recited the state's version of the facts, which plea counsel said the defense disagreed with in many respects.³ R. 19, l. 6 – 24, l. 9; R. 26, l. 11 – 29, l. 7. According to the prosecutor, Anthony was quickly identified as a suspect in the shooting death of Jeffrey Sewell. The incident occurred outside of a known “party house” among teens and young adults. The prosecutor averred that when Sewell and his friend, Derrick Brown, got to the house, “the Enriquez brothers came up to [Brown] and they asked him if Sewell had any papers on him.” Brown said that he did not know and said “go ask him yourself.” R. 19, l. 6 – 21, l. 5. The prosecutor said that Anthony, along with his brother Jessie Enriquez and another boy, Dan Murphy, surrounded Sewell and asked him if he had any “papers.”⁴ Anthony walked back to the car, retrieved a sawed-off shotgun with a pistol grip, and walked back up to Sewell.⁵ Brown saw Jessie and Murphy going through Sewell's pockets and then heard a muffled gun shot and saw Sewell fall. The boys ran back to their car, told Brown to get in, and they all drove off. R. 21, ll. 6-24. The prosecutor admitted that when Anthony got in the car, he asked “who loaded the shotgun?” R. 21, l. 25 – 22, l. 1. Jessie allegedly said that he “got his [Sewell's] cigarettes.” R. 22, ll. 1-9. The autopsy showed markings consistent with Sewell being hit in the face with the shogun prior to the fatal shot to the chest. R. 23, l. 18 – 24, l. 1.

³ The solicitor's recitation of the “facts,” primarily based on testimony the State expected to elicit from Derrick Brown, was not entirely consistent with the written statement Brown provided to police on January 23, 1994. R. 46; see also R. 49.

⁴ “Papers” can apparently refer to either money or, as in this case, “rolling paper” for marijuana. R. 46.

⁵ In the defense memorandum, Anthony explained that Jessie alone approached Sewell. It was only when Anthony saw that the two were in a heated argument that he retrieved the gun and went up to them, intending only to scare Sewell. He said that the gun accidentally discharged when he struck Sewell with it to keep him at bay. R. 43.

The prosecutor noted: “[T]here’s only one sentence in this case . . . the sentence is life imprisonment.” R. 24, ll. 10-12. After hearing briefly from both of Anthony’s parents, Judge Manning asked Anthony if he wanted to tell the Court anything. Anthony responded: “That I’m sorry, and I had no intentions of hurting anybody this night.” R. 29, l. 16 – 30, l. 25. Judge Manning acknowledged that two lives were lost – that of the victim and the defendant – and said “I probably won’t be around when he gets out of jail, I don’t know, it will be a long time, but it’s an appropriate punishment when a life is taken.” R. 31, ll. 1-6. He sentenced Anthony to concurrent terms of life imprisonment for murder and twenty-five years for armed robbery. R. 31, ll. 10-23.

Request to Withdraw Plea

On December 5, 1994, *four days after the plea hearing*, Anthony wrote to plea counsel Runyon asking for help because the classification office told him that he would not be eligible for parole until after he served twenty years, rather than the ten years that was discussed with Runyon. R. 54. Runyon wrote back to Anthony on December 7, 1994, explaining that while parole eligibility would not be for twenty years, Anthony would be eligible for early release in ten years “with the computation of good time plus other time incentive programs.” R. 55. On the contrary, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A) (1992), provided in pertinent part: “No person sentenced under the provisions of this subsection may receive any work-release credits, good-time credits, or any other credit that would reduce the mandatory imprisonment required by this subsection.”

Runyon further wrote: “Now to your request. I am not going to expose you to the possibility of the electric chair. Hire someone else to do that or go get an appointed lawyer. I realize you are ‘scared’ of prison, but at least you are alive.” R. 55. After discussing the risks of

trial, he wrote: “I therefore advise against and respectfully decline to risk your life. This is not a Burger King system – you cannot have it your way when someone is dead.” R. 55. On December 13, 1994, Enriquez wrote to the Charleston County Clerk of Court, requesting information on how to withdraw a plea. R. 57.

Motion for Resentencing

In his motion for resentencing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), Anthony argued that at the time of the crime he was only seventeen years old; had an underdeveloped sense of responsibility, and was vulnerable to negative influences and outside pressures from family and peers. Anthony’s age was only a chronological factor at his plea hearing and not considered for its constitutional significance, as explained in Aiken and Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012). R. 33. The subsequent memorandum in support of his motion elaborated on both the law and facts relevant to the instant case. R. 38. Counsel noted that while Enriquez’s sentence provided for parole eligibility after service of twenty years of his sentence, its imposition was mandatory under the law in place at the time. R. 38-39. Thus, Enriquez never had the opportunity “to present evidence specific to the attributes of his youth” to the sentencing judge and the judge was prevented from considering such evidence in determining a proper and proportionate sentence. R. 39, R. 41.

Counsel reviewed Anthony’s many achievements while incarcerated, which include completion of the Bondage to Freedom seminar, earning a certificate of achievement for Work Keys – Silver, earning a legal assistant/paralegal certificate, and earning an associate’s degree in paralegal studies. R 42. He also discussed the circumstances of the offense, Anthony’s home life and peer pressures, and Anthony’s difficulty in assisting in his own defense. R. 42-43. Counsel further noted that “[t]he life expectancy for an incarcerated youth who serves decades in prison is

substantially less than a person in society in light of the stress factors associated with prison life.” R. 44. He argued that even geriatric release is uncommon for “lifers” in South Carolina, but that such release would not provide Anthony with the opportunity for any meaningful life outside of prison. Thus, he argued that Anthony’s sentence “is the ‘functional equivalent’ to life without parole,” such that he is entitled to a resentencing hearing. R. 44.

In the state’s response, the prosecutor argued that Miller and Aiken were not applicable to Anthony because he is eligible for parole, noting an initial parole eligibility date of January 23, 2014. R. 62. The prosecutor cited to the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services’ Policies and Procedures Handbook in support of his assertion that “the parole board can take into considerations of youthfulness and immaturity at the time of the crime, rehabilitation, along with other important considerations.” R. 63. Thus, the prosecutor suggested that Anthony’s motion be summarily denied. R. 63.

In the defense’s reply, counsel asserted that Anthony had a right to have a judge consider the mitigating factors prior to imposing a life sentence, regardless of his parole eligibility. R. 64. In the state’s supplemental response, the prosecutor argued that the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016), “made clear that Miller, and consequently Aiken v. Byars, does not apply to juveniles who receive life with eligibility for parole sentences.” R. 66-67. Rather, he asserted that a remedy for a Miller violation is to convert the life without parole sentence to one of life with eligibility for parole. He further wrote: “The Defendant’s parole was denied in April 2014 due to (1) nature and seriousness of offense, (2) use of a deadly weapon to commit the offense, and (3) unfavorable institutional record at SCDC. The Defendant will be back before the parole board on September 21, 2016, and can attempt to demonstrate his rehabilitation.” R. 67.

Hearing on Eligibility for Aiken Resentencing

At the July 20, 2016 hearing before Judge Mullen, the prosecutor argued that the resentencing provided for in Aiken was applicable only to juveniles sentenced to literal “life without parole” and not to anyone sentenced to life with parole. R. 69, ll. 11-15. He averred that because Anthony was parole eligible, “the parole board could consider the novelties of youth and the other considerations of youth.” R. 69, ll. 16-19. The prosecutor further cited to Montgomery as having held that “a possible remedy for a Miller violation is the same sentence that the defendant received in this case, which is converting a life without parole sentence to a life with parole.” R. 69, ll. 20-25. Regarding the sentencing scheme in place at the time of Anthony’s original plea and sentencing, the prosecutor said:

My understanding, Your Honor, is it could have been a capital case, which, obviously, would have been death penalty. If they choose not to select capital punishment, it would have been life. And I believe it would have been parole after 30 years, if he had gotten that. In this case, it was pled down without aggravating circumstance, so it is the 20 years . . . parole eligible.

R. 70, ll. 1-16. He argued that Aiken’s language indicated applicability to a narrow class, such that there was no authority to grant a resentencing hearing in Anthony’s case. R. 75, l. 10 – 76, l. 4.

Defense counsel responded that the fact that the mandatory sentencing scheme allowed for parole eligibility did not preclude resentencing. He discussed the Miller factors and how they would have counseled against a life sentence in Anthony’s case, had the sentencing judge been allowed to consider them. R. 70, l. 19 – 73, l. 7. Counsel averred that there were other similarly situated inmates serving life with parole sentences, though it was difficult to identify the specific number because they are “dying off” in prison. He noted that life expectancy is reduced in prison. R. 73, ll. 8-17. Regarding the scope of Montgomery, counsel noted that the language

used in the opinion is that “[a] State *may* remedy a Miller violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them.” 136 S.Ct. at 736 (emphasis added). Thus, he argued that parole eligibility does *not always* provide an adequate remedy. R. 73, ll. 18-24. Counsel averred that parole is much easier to attain in other states than in South Carolina. He argued that, in our State, it is the judiciary that needs to weigh the Miller factors and determine the proper sentence. R. 73, l. 25 – 74, l. 25. Leaving the matter to the parole board was not adequate because no one serving a similar sentence for a similar offense had been granted parole, and that the parole board was going to continue to “not parole,” just as they have done in the past. Thus, defense counsel argued that Anthony’s sentence is the functional equivalent of life without parole, imposed in violation of the Constitution. R. 76, ll. 5-18. Notably, the prosecutor did not dispute defense counsel’s assertion regarding the unlikelihood of parole for Anthony. R. 76, ll. 19-23.

Order Denying Resentencing

Judge Mullen took the matter under advisement. R. 76, ll. 24-25. On October 20, 2016, she filed an Order dismissing Anthony’s motion for resentencing. She found that Anthony was sentenced to life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after service of twenty years in accordance with the 1990 version of the South Carolina murder statute, such that he became parole eligible on January 23, 2014. Judge Mullen noted that Anthony’s parole was denied, but that he would be eligible again on September 21, 2016. R. 80. She found that there was “currently no South Carolina case law addressing whether a juvenile defendant sentenced to life imprisonment with the possibility of parole is entitled to the same individualized sentencing hearing as those juvenile defendants sentenced to life without the possibility of parole.” R. 81. However, she found Montgomery’s holding – that states may remedy a Miller violation by

permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole – “instructive.” R. 81. She quoted Montgomery: “Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity – and who have since matured – will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.” R. 81 (quoting Montgomery, 136 S.Ct. at 736).

Thus, Judge Mullen reasoned that “[b]ecause Montgomery allows States to remedy unconstitutional life sentences imposed on juveniles by giving such offenders parole eligibility, it logically follows that a life sentence with the possibility for parole – such as the one Enriquez is serving – imposed upon a juvenile defendant is not unconstitutional.” R. 81. She accordingly ruled: “Enriquez is not entitled to a resentencing hearing under Aiken v. Byars as Aiken v. Byars does not extend to juveniles serving life sentences who are eligible for parole. R. 81.

Subsequent Parole Proceedings

Following Judge Mullen’s decision in this case, Anthony did appear for an additional parole hearing and was again denied on September 22, 2016. On appeal to the administrative law court, Anthony raised the following issue: “Whether the Department complied with procedural due process requirements when denying the Appellant parole?” The court addressed Anthony’s constitutional argument that “the maturity of a juvenile who has taken steps to rehabilitate himself in prison should be considered by the Board.” The court found the case law cited by Anthony “persuasive” but ultimately ruled:

Currently, the Board does not consider these factors. However, no existing United States or South Carolina authority requires the South Carolina Parole Board to consider age or immaturity in its decisions. Because, the Appellant received a routine denial of parole consistent with the current statutory and procedural due process requirements under South Carolina law, the court must affirm the Department’s decision.

Enriquez v. SCDPPPS, Appellate Case No. 2017-001133 (Order Challenged on Appeal)
(emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

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