**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

RECEIVED

NOV 25 2019

**Appeal from Charleston County
Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY M. ENRIQUEZ,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-002237

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in ruling appellant is not entitled to re-sentencing pursuant to *Aiken* as appellant received a life *with* parole sentence and is eligible for release every two years, and the court properly found the law only applies to juvenile homicide offenders previously sentenced to life *without* parole and has not been extended to any other sentence. Further, appellant's sentence is the remedy deemed sufficient by the United States Supreme Court to cure an unconstitutional sentence.

Appellant is not entitled to re-sentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), as he received a life *with* parole sentence and is eligible for release every year. The fact appellant has been rejected for parole twice does not create a cognizable claim under *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), and its progeny. By their plain language *Miller* and *Aiken* apply only to juvenile homicide offenders sentenced to life *without* parole and appellant is not part of that class.

Neither our courts nor the United States Supreme Court have extended the *Miller* rule to apply to any other type of sentence, such as a *de facto* life sentence. Appellant received the sentence the Supreme Court deemed sufficient to remedy an unconstitutional sentence pursuant to *Miller* and is parole eligible. Appellant's lengthy disciplinary history while incarcerated belies his contention that he is serving the equivalent of a life without parole sentence because he was denied parole twice. A disciplinary history, which is considered by the parole board, is not evidence of rehabilitation in keeping with the "central intuition" of *Miller* that juveniles who commit even violent crimes are capable of change. Accordingly, appellant's sentence of life *with* parole is not cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment, and the trial court did not err in denying appellant's motion for re-sentencing.

Guilty Plea Hearing

Appellant pled guilty to murder and armed robbery in Charleston on December 1, 1994,

before the Honorable Casey Manning. (R.p.1; p.7, lines 10-23; p.10, line 7-p.12, line 4). Prior to accepting the plea, Judge Manning allowed appellant additional time to talk to defense counsel to make sure appellant understood the charges against him. (R.p.7, line 24-p.10, line 15).

Judge Manning explained the rights appellant was giving up by pleading guilty, asked appellant repeatedly if he understood what those rights meant, and discussed the potential sentences appellant faced by pleading guilty. (R.p.10, line 16-p.14, line 16). In exchange for appellant's plea, the State agreed not to seek the death penalty, and to allow appellant to plead to murder without an aggravating circumstance so appellant avoided the thirty-year minimum sentence prior to parole eligibility.² (R.p.14, line 19-p.15, line 13). Appellant stated repeatedly he understood the negotiations and his parole eligibility. (R.p.15, line 14-p.16, line 1; p.18, lines 11-16). Judge Manning found appellant's plea was voluntarily and knowingly entered. (R.p.18, line 17-p.19, line 4).

The State told the plea judge briefly some of the evidence that would have been presented had the case gone to trial. Deputies found the victim in the driveway of a home in Charleston County early on the morning of January 23, 1994, with a gunshot wound to the chest. (R.p.19, lines 6-15). Several witnesses identified appellant as the shooter, and told deputies his brother and another person were also involved, and described their vehicle. (R.p.19, lines 16-21; p.20, lines 2-13). Derrick Brown (Brown) saw all three of them talking to the victim, saw appellant get a sawed off shotgun from the car, heard a gunshot, and saw the victim fall to the ground.

² As previously noted, at the time appellant pled guilty, defendants sentenced to life for murder were eligible for parole after serving either twenty or thirty years, as ordered by the sentencing judge. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A) (Supp. 1990) (providing the punishment for a conviction or guilty plea to murder shall be death or life imprisonment, and if sentenced to life, the person shall not be eligible for parole until the service of twenty years, or thirty years if a recommendation of death is not made but a statutory aggravating circumstance is found beyond a reasonable doubt).

(R.p.21, lines 6-19). Brown told deputies he saw appellant's brother and the third co-defendant going through the victim's pockets. (R.p.21, lines 21-24). Brown left with appellant and heard him ask his co-defendants who loaded the shotgun.³ (R.p.21, lines 19-20; p.21, line 25-p.22, line 1; p.47).

Witnesses also told deputies appellant and his co-defendants wanted to rob someone that night, knew someone at the house carried a large amount of cash, and had been there earlier with guns, but left when they realized the person they were looking for was not there. (R.p.22, line 10-p.23, line 17). Brown specifically told deputies he and Joyner knew about the robbery plan. (R.p.47).

At trial, the State would have presented witnesses to testify appellant was the shooter, about seeing appellant and his co-defendants at the house previously with guns, and that their motive was robbery. (R.p.24, lines 2-9). The pathologist would have testified about the deadly wound to the victim's chest, and that appellant slammed the shotgun's muzzle into the victim's face prior to shooting him. (R.p.23, line 18-p.24, line 1). Further, if appellant testified, the State could have impeached him on his lengthy criminal history. (R.p.24, lines 14-15).

Defense counsel discussed the circumstances of the crime, and disagreed with some of the facts. (R.p.26, lines 18-24). Counsel described the murder as an "accident waiting to happen" and told the plea judge appellant had expressed remorse since the crime. (R.p.26, line 25-p.27, line 4). Counsel further stated all of the "young people" knew each other and "partied together," and explained the victim had alcohol and marijuana in his system at the time of his death. (R.p.27, lines 5-11).

Appellant's father and mother both spoke at the plea hearing. Appellant's father told the

³ Wendy Joyner (Joyner) was in the car and also heard appellant ask who loaded the gun. (R.p.51). Joyner further heard appellant say someone at the house owed him money. (R.p.50).

plea judge he retired from the Navy and worked at a civil service job. (R.p.30, lines 8-9). He explained his son was "training for college preparation" and intended to go to college, when he asked to borrow the car on the night of the incident to go to a party. (R.p.29, lines 16-21). Appellant's father stated it was his belief the shooting was an accident. (R.p.29, line 22-p.30, line 7; p.30, lines 9-10). Appellant's mother explained appellant was the youngest of six children, and stated she understood the pain the victim's mother was experiencing. (R.p.30, lines 14-18).

Appellant expressed remorse for the crime, and said he had no intention of hurting anyone that night. (R.p.30, lines 24-25).

Judge Manning stated it was a difficult situation for both families, but that a life with parole sentence was an "appropriate punishment when a life is taken." (R.p.31, lines 1-6). The judge sentenced appellant to life with the possibility of parole after service of twenty years for murder, and twenty-five years for armed robbery. (R.p.31, lines 10-19). Appellant became parole eligible on January 23, 2014, and has had two parole hearings since that time. (R.p.80).

Motion for Re-Sentencing and Responses

On December 18, 2014, appellant moved for re-sentencing pursuant to *Aiken*, and submitted a *pro se* motion. (R.pp.33-36). In his motion, appellant asserted he was vulnerable to negative influences and outside pressures, including family and peers. (R.p.33). Further, appellant argued he was not properly advised of the direct and collateral consequences of his plea, and age was but a chronological fact considered by the sentencing judge. (R.p.34).

Defense counsel filed a memorandum in support of appellant's motion on March 31, 2016. (R.pp.38-45). Counsel noted the life with parole sentence appellant received as a juvenile was mandatory because it was the only possible sentence appellant could receive under the

statute. (R.pp.38-40). Counsel maintained appellant did not have "the opportunity to present evidence regarding the characteristics of his youth and any mitigating circumstances from his specific case." (R.p.41). Counsel asserted the mandatory sentence prevented Judge Manning from fully exploring appellant's immaturity or recklessness, family environment, despite the fact that his parents spoke at the plea hearing, and possibility of rehabilitation. (R.pp.41-42).

While admitting appellant "struggled with his adjustment to prison," defense counsel maintained appellant had been rehabilitated. (R.p.42). Counsel stated appellant obtained a legal assistant/paralegal certificate, took college courses, participated in various programs for employment readiness, and took part in alcohol and drug abuse programs. (R.p.42). Counsel also discussed the circumstances of the murder, appellant's home life, and appellant's alleged misunderstanding of the charges against him. (R.pp.42-44). Finally, counsel argued appellant's "life expectancy is substantially less than a person in society in light of the stress factors associated with prison life," geriatric release is uncommon in South Carolina, and appellant's sentence is, therefore, the "functional equivalent to life without parole." (R.p.44).

The State responded and argued *Aiken* did not apply because appellant was eligible for parole. (R.pp.61-63). The State maintained the parole board could take into account "youthfulness and immaturity at the time of the crime, rehabilitation, along with other important considerations" during any parole hearing. (R.p.63).

Defense counsel replied, and argued appellant had the right to have a judge consider the mitigating factors of youth prior to imposing a life sentence, regardless of appellant's parole eligibility. (R.p.65). The State subsequently replied and maintained the United States Supreme Court "made clear" in an opinion following *Aiken* that relief applies only to juvenile homicide offenders who receive life without parole sentences. (R.pp.66-67). The State argued the

Supreme Court held a remedy for such an unconstitutional sentence was "to convert the sentence of life without parole to life with eligibility for parole, the same sentence" appellant received. (R.p.67). The State further noted parole was denied for appellant on April 17, 2014, due, in part, to an unfavorable disciplinary record while incarcerated and appellant would be back before the parole board on September 21, 2016, when he could "attempt to demonstrate his rehabilitation." (R.p.67).

Hearing on *Aiken* Motion

A hearing on appellant's motion was held on July 20, 2016, in Charleston before Judge Mullen. (R.p.68). The State first argued appellant was not entitled to re-sentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), because he did not receive a sentence of life *without* the possibility of parole, but received a sentence of life *with* the possibility of parole. (R.p.69, lines 2-16). The State maintained the sentencing implications noted in *Aiken* were not at issue in appellant's case "because the parole board could consider the novelties of youth and the other considerations of youth." (R.p.69, lines 16-19). The State argued the United States Supreme Court held a possible remedy for an unconstitutional sentence was the same one appellant received, which was to convert the sentence to life with parole. (R.p.69, lines 20-25). The State maintained *Aiken* applied only to a narrow class of juvenile offenders and appellant was not within that class because he was parole eligible. (R.p.75, lines 10-22). Appellant already received relief from what *Aiken* contemplated as cruel and unusual punishment for juveniles and *Aiken* did not authorize relief from life with parole sentences because the proper body reconsidered appellant's case every other year. (R.p.75, line 22-p.76, line 4).

Defense counsel argued appellant was entitled to re-sentencing because: (1) a life sentence was the only possibility available at the time appellant was sentenced and the plea judge

did not have the option of setting a term-of-years sentence, and (2) a court should have the chance to consider the mitigating hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing a juvenile to a life sentence. (R.p.70, line 19-p.72, line 11). Counsel also argued a life with parole sentence did not always remedy an unconstitutional sentence, and leaving the matter up to the parole board was not going to "fix this problem." (R.p.73 line 18-p.75, line 1, p.76, lines 10-13). Counsel maintained the board would continue to "not parole" inmates as it had "done in the past" and appellant's sentence was the functional equivalent of life without parole. (R.p.76, lines 5-14).

Judge Mullen noted, "If the basis of being able to have the [re-sentencing] hearing is a constitutional violation, the sentence [appellant] received isn't a violation. It isn't a constitutional violation because he was given a life sentence with parole. And he, in fact, has had at least one opportunity of parole." (R.p.75, lines 2-7). The judge took the matter under advisement. (R.p.76, lines 24-25).

Order Denying Re-Sentencing Pursuant to *Aiken*

By order dated October 13, 2016, Judge Mullen denied appellant's motion for a re-sentencing hearing, finding *Aiken* did not apply to appellant's case. (R.p.81). The judge first noted *Aiken* applied to "juveniles sentenced to life without the possibility of parole" and only those who received such a sentence were entitled to an individualized sentencing hearing. (R.pp.79-80). Judge Mullen then found appellant was sentenced to life with parole, became parole eligible in 2014, and was denied parole in April 2014. (R.p.80). The judge also noted the parole board denied parole because of the nature and seriousness of the offense, the use of a deadly weapon, and appellant's unfavorable institutional record, and appellant was scheduled to go before the parole board again on September 21, 2016. (R.p.80).

Judge Mullen found there was no South Carolina case law addressing whether juvenile

homicide offenders sentenced to life *with* parole were entitled to the same individualized sentencing hearings as those sentenced to life *without* parole. (R.p.81). However, the judge found the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016), instructive. (R.p.81). Judge Mullen quoted the opinion which held allowing juvenile offenders to be considered for parole ensured those "whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment." (R.p.81); *see also Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736. The judge found *Montgomery* allowed states to remedy unconstitutional life sentences by giving juveniles parole eligibility, so "it logically follows" that a life sentence with the possibility for release, such as the one appellant is serving, "imposed upon a juvenile defendant is not unconstitutional." (R.p.81). Therefore, Judge Mullen found appellant was not within the class of juvenile offenders for whom *Aiken* provides for re-sentencing hearings as *Aiken* did not extend to juveniles who have the opportunity for release. (R.p.81). The judge denied the motion for re-sentencing. (R.p.81).

Subsequent Parole Proceeding

Appellant appeared before the parole board subsequent to Judge Mullen's ruling and the board denied parole on September 22, 2016. *Enriquez v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, Order in Lower Court Case No. 2016-ALJ-15-0049-AP. On appeal to the Administrative Law Court, appellant raised the issue of whether the parole board complied with due process when it denied him parole. (R.p.82). Appellant argued "the maturity of a juvenile who has taken steps to rehabilitate himself in prison should be considered" by the parole board. (R.p.85). The court found case law from New York persuasive, but ruled "no existing United States or South Carolina authority requires the South Carolina Parole Board to consider age or immaturity in its

decisions." (R.p.85). Because appellant received a routine denial of parole under current statutory and due process requirements, the court affirmed the parole board's decision. (R.p.85).

Appellant appealed the decision to this Court, which dismissed the appeal for failure to serve and file the initial brief of appellant and designation of matter. *Enriquez v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, Order in Appellate Case No. 2017-001133.

Analysis

Standard of Review

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